IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EMILY WHEELER,

Supreme Court No. S272850

Petitioner,

2nd District Court of Appeal No. B310024

vs.

Los Angeles County Superior Court Nos. 9CJ00315, BR054851

APPELLATE DIVISION OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party In Interest.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ERIKA ANZOATEGUI ALTERNATE PUBLIC DEFENDER OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY

*Brock Hammond, State Bar No. 215986 Alvin Yu, State Bar No. 313758 210 West Temple Street, 18th Floor Los Angeles, California 90012 Telephone No. (213) 974-4901 Fax No. (213) 626-3171

Attorneys for Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Can a trial court dismiss a strict liability offense pursuant to Penal Code section 1385¹ based in part on the defendant's lack of knowledge concerning the offense?
- 2. Does state law preempt a local ordinance when both prohibit the same conduct and the state law has a mens rea component that the local ordinance does not?

ANSWER

- 1. Yes, the broad language of Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), and appellate courts' interpretation of this statute do not limit trial courts from using a defendant's lack of knowledge or intent as a factor in ordering the dismissal of a strict liability offense.
- 2. Yes, the Los Angeles Municipal Code ("LAMC") ordinances duplicate state law provisions that apply to petitioner's alleged conduct. The LAMC ordinances conflict with the related state law provisions in that the LAMC ordinances do not require a defendant to have knowledge of the underlying offenses, while the state law provisions require a *mens rea* before a conviction. Finally, the LAMC ordinances enter into an area fully occupied the by the conflicting and duplicative state laws. Therefore, the state law provisions regulating the same conduct as the LAMC ordinances preempt the LAMC ordinances.

¹ All statutory references are to California law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

These issues arose in a case involving petitioner, Mrs. Emily Wheeler, an 86-year-old woman with no prior criminal record who required a wheelchair to attend the trial court proceedings. The trial court exercised its discretion under Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), to dismiss the Los Angeles Municipal Code charges alleged against petitioner. The charges were related to petitioner being an owner of a commercial property that, without petitioner's knowledge, had been leased to a business that did not have the appropriate license to sell cannabis. When the trial court ordered petitioner's case dismissed, the trial court referenced petitioner's age, lack of criminal history, her exemplary life, and the fact that there was no showing that she knew anything about marijuana activity occurring on the property.

Respondent, the Appellate Division of the Los Angeles
County Superior Court, reversed the trial court. Respondent held
that while the trial court correctly considered petitioner's age,
lack of criminal history, and exemplary life, it erred in
considering the fact that there was no proof that petitioner was
aware of the unlicensed cannabis activity on the property.
Respondent held that when it comes to strict liability offenses,
the trial court can consider a defendant's knowledge as an
aggravating factor but not a mitigating factor when weighing a
Penal Code section 1385 motion.

The Court of Appeal upheld respondent's analysis and affirmed that the trial court improperly considered petitioner's lack of knowledge when weighing whether to dismiss pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. Doing so "was an improper dismissal based on the [trial] court's disagreement with the law, or disapproval of the impact the provisions would have on [petitioner]." (Wheeler v. Appellate Division (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 824, 843 (Wheeler).) This holding is contrary to years of case law that addresses how trial court's should weigh the competing interests involved in Penal Code section 1385 dismissals.

Other than the published opinion at issue in this case, there does not appear to be any case law on the question of whether a trial court may consider a defendant's lack of knowledge when a strict liability offense is at issue and the trial court is considering a dismissal pursuant to section 1385. In its reasons supporting the holding, the Court of Appeal did not cite to any case law supporting its conclusion, either. (*Wheeler, supra,* 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 842-843.)

Petitioner's case also raises the issue of state law preemption. The Los Angeles Municipal Code sections that real party in interest charged petitioner with should be preempted by a state law regulating the conduct at issue in this case. The LAMC ordinances duplicate Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 by criminalizing the use of a property for unlicensed marijuana sales. The ordinances conflict with Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 in that the ordinances are strict liability

offenses while the state provision requires a *mens rea*. The ordinances also enter a field fully occupied by state law. As argued more fully below, the result should be a finding that the relevant state laws preempt real party in interest's attempt to criminally prosecute petitioner with the duplicative and conflicting local ordinances.

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURE

On June 26, 2018, petitioner—Mrs. Emily Wheeler—and her son, Aaron Wheeler, were charged with unlawfully establishing, operating, and participating in an unlicensed cannabis business in violation of LAMC, section 104.15, subdivision (a)(1); unlawfully leasing, renting to, or allowing an unlicensed Commercial Cannabis establishment on land in violation of LAMC, section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4); and maintaining or using a structure for purposes other than permitted in the zone, in violation of LAMC, section 12.21, subdivision (a)(1)(A). (Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pgs. 1-4.)² Omar Brown was arrested after he was found operating the cannabis shop on their property and he was also charged in the complaint. (Exhibit A, CT, pgs. 1-4.)

On October 7, 2019, petitioner's trial counsel filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Los Angeles ordinances were unconstitutionally vague, and counsel also invited the trial court

² All citations to exhibits will be from the Petition for Writ of Mandate.

to exercise its discretion to dismiss the case under Penal Code section 1385. (Exhibit A, CT, pgs. 10-21.) As part of the motion, petitioner's trial counsel attached a declaration stating that petitioner was 85 years old, had never been arrested, was an upstanding member of the community, did not have any direct or indirect connection to or awareness of the presence of the cannabis on the property, and that she merely owned the property. (Exhibit A, CT, pg. 20.) Real party in interest filed an opposition to this motion which stated facts regarding a controlled purchase from Mr. Brown, and Mr. Brown's subsequent arrest at a later date on the property. (Exhibit A, CT, pgs. 24-25.) However, real party did not allege any facts that showed that petitioner was ever notified or ever had any knowledge of any cannabis sales activities, licensed or not, occurring on the property.

On November 19, 2019, petitioner appeared in the courtroom in her wheelchair and a hearing was held on the motion. (Exhibit B, Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), pg. 301.) The trial court denied the motion to dismiss based on the asserted unconstitutionality of the ordinances. (Exhibit B, RT, pg. 306.) The trial court then ordered the case against petitioner dismissed pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 based on the following: petitioner was a woman born in 1934 with no criminal history, petitioner had led an exemplary life, and there was no showing that petitioner had any awareness of the alleged illegal activity on her property. (Exhibit B, RT, pgs. 306-309.) Notably, the trial

court did not agree to dismiss co-defendant Aaron Wheeler's case pursuant to section 1385. (Exhibit B, RT, pg. 309.)

Real party in interest filed an appeal with respondent, the Appellate Division of the Los Angeles Superior Court. On November 20, 2020, respondent filed its opinion reversing the trial court's judgment. (Exhibit I, Slip Opinion.) Respondent held that the trial court's reliance on petitioner's lack of knowledge as a mitigating circumstance was improper. (Exhibit I, Slip Opinion, pg. 5.) Respondent also held that that the ordinances at issue were not preempted by state law. (Exhibit I, Slip Opinion, pg. 10.)

On December 3, 2020, petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing and Application for Certification for Transfer with respondent. (Exhibit J, Petition for Rehearing and Application for Certification for Transfer.) Respondent denied this petition on December 9, 2020. (See Exhibit C, LASC Appellate Division Case Summary.)

On December 23, 2020, petitioner filed a Petition for Transfer with the Court of Appeal. (Exhibit K, Petition for Transfer, Case no. B309498.) On January 14, 2021, the Court of Appeal denied petitioner's Petition for Transfer. (Exhibit L, Order, Case no. B309498.)

On January 25, 2021, petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate with the Court of Appeal. (Second District Court of Appeal, Case no. B310024.) This petition argued that respondent exceeded its jurisdiction and erred in holding that the LAMC ordinances at issue were not preempted by Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 and Penal Code section 373a. The petition

also argued that respondent exceeded its jurisdiction and erred by holding that the trial court could not consider petitioner's lack of knowledge in weighing whether to dismiss the case pursuant to Penal Code section 1385.

On February 11, 2021, the Court of Appeal summarily denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate. (Second District Court of Appeal, Case no. B310024.)

On February 16, 2021, petitioner filed a Petition for Review with this Court. (Supreme Court, Case No. S267083.) On March 30, 2021, this Court granted the Petition for Review. (Supreme Court, Case No. S267083.)

After further briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its written opinion on December 15, 2021, attached as Exhibit A to this Petition for Review. (See *Wheeler, supra,* 72 Cal.App.5th 824.)

On March 16, 2022, this Court granted petitioner's Petition for Review.

ARGUMENT

I. A trial court can dismiss a strict liability offense pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 based in part on the defendant's lack of knowledge concerning the offense.

Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), reads in relevant part: "The judge or magistrate may, either on motion of the court or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed. The reasons for the dismissal shall be stated orally on the record. ..."

The trial court ordered the dismissal of petitioner's case based on the facts that petitioner was a woman born in 1934 with no criminal history, petitioner had led an exemplary life, and there was no showing that petitioner had any awareness of the alleged illegal activity on her property. (Exhibit B, RT, pgs. 306-309.) In its dismissal order, the trial court stated the following:

"...[T]he court does grant on its own motion, as to Ms. Wheeler, a motion to dismiss. You have a woman born in 1934 with no prior criminal history. There is nothing to suggest she knows anything this, other than the fact that she owns the property, and the code says, 'In the interests of justice;' and I think justice can only be served if a person who has lived an exemplary life for 80 plus years, and finds herself, because she owns the property, and that property is leased to another individual, and that individual is operating a dispensary, that says to this court that justice would properly be served by dismissing the case in its entirety as to Ms. Emily Wheeler, and that is what this court is prepared to do at this moment." (Exhibit B, RT, pg. 307.)

Real party in interest conceded to the trial court that petitioner did not "[have] any contact with or any business position in running" the cannabis business. (Exhibit B, RT, pg. 308.)

A trial court's dismissal of the charges in the interests of justice pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. (*People v. Smith* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 869, 873.) A close review of the record and relevant caselaw shows that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering the municipal code violations alleged against petitioner dismissed.

One of the first observations one can make after reviewing Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), is that there is no language limiting a court from using a defendant's lack of knowledge of the underlying crime as a reason supporting the dismissal of a strict liability offense. The phrase "in the interests of justice" is broad, and absent a limitation imposed on courts by the legislature, courts should be reluctant to narrow this broad authority granted to them by this statute.

A trial court has wide discretion to dismiss alleged offenses under section 1385, subdivision (a), and in applying its discretion the court should consider the nature and circumstances of the defendant's current crimes, whether the defendant has any prior criminal history, and the particulars of the defendant's background, character, and prospects. (*People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal. 4th 148, 162-163.) A defendant's knowledge and awareness of the underlying crime is also an appropriate part of the court's exercise of discretion under Penal Code section 1385, even when the alleged violation is a strict liability offense. That factor can be relevant to the court's examination of the "particulars of [the defendant's] background, character, and

prospects," all of which are appropriate for a court to consider under Penal Code section 1385. (*People v. S.M.* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 210, 220, citing *People v. Williams, supra,* 17 Cal. 4th at p. 161.) "So long as the trial court balances the interests of justice in a rational way, appellate courts have, and will, give their imprimatur to such dismissals, even when the exercise of that judgment deprives the prosecutor of asserting enhanced penalties." (*People v. S.M., supra,* 9 Cal.App.5th at p. 220 (citation omitted).)

In addition to the wide discretion given to trial courts in exercising their authority to dismiss pursuant to section 1385, the trial court based its ruling on uncontested evidence that was presented to it in the form of an affidavit from counsel: petitioner is 85 years old with no prior criminal history, petitioner had lived an exemplary life, petitioner was unaware that marijuana was present on her property, petitioner was not directly or indirectly connected to the marijuana on her property, and petitioner merely owned the property.³

Wheeler held that the trial court's consideration of petitioner's lack of knowledge of the strict liability offenses she was charged with was an improper fact to base the dismissal on:

³ See, Exhibit B, RT, page 20 ["...Ms. Wheeler has no prior criminal history. In fact, Ms. Wheeler is 85 years old and has never been arrested. Ms. Wheeler is an upstanding member of the community. Ms. Wheeler did not have any direct or even indirect connection to the marijuana or had any idea of its presence on their property. She merely owned the property."] and page 21 [declaration of counsel Alvin Yu].

"In this case, the 'interests of society' as expressed in the ordinances are to aid the City in enforcing its commercial cannabis licensing scheme, and to minimize incentives to undercut this scheme by operating unlicensed cannabis businesses, by imposing criminal liability on landlords who rent to cannabis businesses without ascertaining that such businesses are licensed. Given these societal interests, the appellate division did not err in concluding that '[f]inding that a person's lack of knowledge called for the dismissal of offenses, when the offenses required no knowledge for conviction, in effect, was an improper dismissal based on the court's disagreement with the law, or disapproval of the impact the provisions would have on defendant'." (Wheeler, supra, 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 843.)

The Court of Appeal cited no authority for the holding that consideration of a defendant's lack of knowledge when weighing a dismissal under section 1385 was improper. A long history of cases examining the issue of whether a trial court abused its discretion in ordering a charge dismissed pursuant to section 1385 have held that considering the impact of a conviction on the defendant is appropriate. These cases also establish that if the court's consideration of the impact of a conviction on a defendant is improper, then no dismissal of a charge pursuant to section 1385 would ever be proper. (See, for example, *People v. S.M., supra,* 9 Cal.App.5th 210 (Court dismissed case based on the defendant's age, no prior criminal history, and he did not reoffend in the four years since the case had been pending.))

Indeed, this has Court held that dismissing a charge under Penal Code section 1385 without showing a detriment to the defendant is an abuse of discretion. (People v. Orin (1975) 13 Cal. 3d 937, 947.) "Courts have recognized that society, represented by the People, has a legitimate interest in 'the fair prosecution of crimes properly alleged.' [Citations omitted.] "A dismissal which arbitrarily cuts those rights without a showing of detriment to the defendant is an abuse of discretion." [Citations Omitted.]" (Ibid., emphasis added.) Thus, a long line of cases has determined that a court not only can weigh the impact of the prosecution on an individual, but it should do so.

It is also worth noting that the trial court never expressed any antipathy for or disagreement with the laws that petitioner was charged with at any stage of the proceedings. The trial court notably declined to dismiss the same charges filed against petitioner's son. (Exhibit B, RT, pg. 309.) This is further evidence that shows that antipathy to and disagreement with the law played no role in the trial court's dismissal of petitioner's case.

A trial court is entitled to consider the nature and circumstances of the offense and the defendant's background—such as her age and lack of criminal record—in exercising its discretion under Penal Code section 1385. (See *People v. Orabuena* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 84, 99; *People v. S.M.*, supra, 9 Cal.App.5th at pp. 218-219.) Like many crimes, the LAMC ordinances charged in this case can be violated with a range of acts, degrees of personal involvement or participation, degrees of

moral blameworthiness, knowledge or lack thereof, and whether the accused person intended for the crime to happen.

A defendant's moral blameworthiness is specifically a part of the nature and circumstances of the crime which may support a dismissal under Penal Code section 1385. (See *People v. Cluff* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 991, 1001-1002 (The defendant's moral blameworthiness should be a factor guiding a motion to dismiss a strike prior.)) The principle that a court may consider a defendant's lack of moral culpability for a crime is a well settled principle in the law.⁴ These considerations of the circumstances of the crime may be taken into account even if a defendant is criminally liable because the purpose of Penal Code section 1385 is to effectuate the decision that in the interests of justice a defendant should not be required to undergo the punishment dictated by statute. (See *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal. 4th 497, 524, fn. 11; *People v. Williams* (1989) 30 Cal. 3d 470, 482.)

(The defendant was a passive participant), Rule 4.423(a)(4) (The

defendant's conduct was partially excusable for a reason not

amounting to a defense).

⁴ See 2018 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 1015 (S.B. 1437, sec. 1(d)) ("It is a bedrock principle of the law and of equity that a person should be punished for his or her actions according to his or her own level of individual culpability."); *People v. Roberts* (1993) 2 Cal. 4th 271, 316 (Modern penal law is founded on moral culpability); *California v. Brown* (1987) 479 U.S. 538, 554 (Emphasis on culpability in sentencing decisions has long been reflected in Anglo-American jurisprudence); see also Calif. Rules of Court, Rule 4.413(b)(2) (Court may consider factors not amounting to a defense but reducing a defendant's culpability), Rule 4.423(a)(1)

The policy served by section 1385 is that mandatory, arbitrary, or rigid sentencing procedures invariably lead to unjust results, and society receives maximum protection where the penalty, treatment, or disposition of the offender is tailored to the individual case. (*People v. Williams, supra*, 30 Cal. 3d at p. 482.) Consequently, the mere fact that a defendant is charged with a strict liability offense should not prevent the trial court from considering the circumstances of the offense as part of a Penal Code section 1385 determination, including a defendant's degree of knowledge or participation in the offense. If a trial court may consider a person's moral blameworthiness notwithstanding the person's conduct meeting the elements of the charged offense, then a trial court should be able to consider a defendant's lack of knowledge in a case alleging a strict liability offense when weighing a dismissal pursuant to section 1385.

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