No. S272850

In the Supreme Court of California

EMILY WHEELER

Petitioner and Defendant,

v.

APPELLATE DIVISION OF THE LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT

Respondent.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Real Party in Interest and Plaintiff.

Court of Appeal, 2d Dist., Div. 3, No. B310024 Superior Court, Los Angeles, Appellate Division, No. BR054851 Superior Court, Los Angeles, Trial Ct. No. 9CJ00315-02 The Honorable H. Elizabeth Harris, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL N. FEUER, Los Angeles City Attorney (SBN 111529) KENT J. BULLARD, Assistant City Attorney (SBN 176194)

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

Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 and LAMC section 104.15 also impose different requirements, as the state statute requires prohibited conduct be done "knowingly" whereas the local ordinance imposes strict liability. This difference in mental states accords with the different nature of the conduct sought to be prevented. The act prohibited by section 104.15 is unlicensed commercial cannabis activity; the act prohibited by section 11366.5 is the illegal sale of controlled substances. Given "[t]here is no such thing as a licensed methamphetamine lab or heroin dealership" illegal drug activity "is necessarily clandestine." (*Wheeler, supra,* 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 841.) It would thus not be reasonable "to impose strict liability on a landlord from whom such

activity has been successfully concealed." (*Ibid.*) Commercial cannabis businesses, in contrast, "operat[e] openly in public," "businesses are required to display their licenses prominently, and the City maintains a publicly accessible website listing all cannabis businesses." (*Ibid.*) Landlords profiting off these commercial businesses thus incur little burden by ensuring their lessees are properly licensed.

Cohen, supra, 40 Cal.3d 277, illustrates the differences between the statutes at issue. In *Cohen*, the defendant argued that a San Francisco ordinance requiring operators of escort services to acquire a permit was preempted by state law because "it impermissibly [sought] to regulate the criminal aspects of sexual conduct." (Id. at p. 290.) This Court explained, however, that the local ordinance did "not prohibit sexual or criminal activity or impose a sanction for engaging in it." (Id. at p. 295.) Instead, the statute prohibited "escort services and escorts from operating without permits, whether or not the escorts provide sexual favors in return for money." (Ibid.) "The law regulates the business of escort services, not their nature." (*Ibid.*) Similarly here, section 104.15 merely prohibits unlicensed commercial cannabis activity. It does not, as Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 does, prohibit drug crime. The ordinance thus "does not criminalize precisely the same acts" that are "prohibited by statute." (Great Western Shows, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 865, internal quotation marks omitted.)

Defendant claims that—irrespective of the differing requirements, triggering provisions, and nature of the conduct sought to be prevented—the local ordinance "duplicates and contradicts" Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 under the holding of *In re Portnoy* (1942) 21 Cal.2d 237 (*Portnoy*). (PBM, pp. 32-34.) She claims that *Portnoy* found that a "difference in the *mens rea* requirements between the state and local provisions resulted in a finding that the local laws both conflict and duplicate the state laws." (PBM, p. 34.) But *Portnoy* did not discuss—let alone base its holding on—differing mental states. (*Agnew v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 310, 332 ["It is axiomatic, of course, that a decision does not stand for a proposition not considered by the court"].)

In *Portnoy*, state law prohibited possessing a slot machine on which money is "hazarded." (In re Portnoy, supra, 21 Cal.2d at p. 240.) A local ordinance prohibited possession of a slot machine on which money is or "may be" hazarded. (Id. at p. 241.) The court first questioned whether there was any difference "between prohibiting the possession of slot machines upon which money is hazarded and the possession of machines upon which money may be hazarded." (*Ibid.*, emphasis omitted.) But even assuming there was a distinction, the words "may be" were "used only in connection . . . with the operation of the machines." (*Ibid.*) Thus the statute and ordinance prohibited precisely the same act: "the requirement is identical under both the statute and the ordinance with respect to an essential element of the crime, the hazarding of money." (*Ibid.*) Portnoy did not hold that a local ordinance duplicated a state statute because it imposed a different mental state. And, unlike *Portnoy*, here the ordinance and statute

prohibit different acts: unlicensed business activity and drug crime.

In any event, defendant's interpretation of *Portnoy* does not reflect the state of the law regarding local ordinances imposing a different mental state than state statutes. (Binder & Fissell, *Judicial Application of Strict Liability Local Ordinances* (2021) 53 Ariz. St. L.J. 425, 445 ["Reducing the culpable mental state required for liability, or eliminating it altogether, saves the local offense from being invalidated by conflict preemption"].)

2. LAMC section 104.15 does not contradict Health and Safety Code section 11366.5.

A local ordinance is preempted by contradiction when it is "inimical" to state law. (*Riverside, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 743.) This "form of preemption does not apply unless the ordinance directly requires what the state statute forbids or prohibits what the state enactment demands." (*Ibid.*) "[N]o inimical conflict will be found where it is reasonably possible to comply with both the state and local laws." (*Ibid.*) It is reasonably possible for a landlord to comply with both LAMC section 104.15 and Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 regardless of the differences in mental states.

Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 prohibits landlords from knowingly renting a building for the sale or distribution of hundreds of illegal controlled substances. LAMC section 104.15 prohibits renting a building to an unlicensed commercial cannabis business irrespective of knowledge. Section 104.15 does not

require what section 11366.5 forbids. It does not, for example, purport to legalize renting property to sell or distribute controlled substances. The local ordinance also does not prohibit what the state law demands. Nothing in section 11366.5 requires landlords to permit unlicensed commercial cannabis activity on their property. Nor does the absence of a knowledge requirement from section 104.15 somehow preclude a landlord from possessing knowledge.

Rather, it is reasonably possible to comply with both statutes. To do so, a landlord must simply rent to a commercial cannabis business that holds both a state and local license. In terms of section 104.15 and local licensure, it is not difficult for landlords to verify the license status of their renters. Commercial cannabis businesses in Los Angeles must prominently display their license. (LAMC, § 104.11, subd. (b).) As the People pointed out in the Appellate Division, "the City's Department of Cannabis Regulation has a publicly accessible website (http://cannabis.lacity.org) where defendants can check to determine if the retail storefront location has a license or authorization from the City." (PWM, Exhibit D, p. 148; see also Wheeler, supra, 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 841 ["and the City maintains a publicly accessible website listing all licensed cannabis businesses"]; In re Marley (1946) 29 Cal.2d 525, 529 (Marley) [in a strict liability case it is the "duty of the defendant to know what the facts are that are involved or result from his acts or conduct"].)

Defendant suggests, however, that LAMC section 104.15 contradicts state law because it imposes criminal penalties for commercial cannabis activity. (PBM, pp. 31-32.) But MAUCRSA stands as a bar to that claim. MAUCRSA provides that it "shall not be interpreted to supersede or limit existing local authority for law enforcement activity" including "enforcement of local license, permit, or other authorization requirements." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 26200, subd. (a)(2).) MAUCRSA also "shall not be deemed to limit the authorities or remedies of" a local government under "Section 7 of Article XI of the California Constitution." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 26200, subd. (f); see also Cal. Const., Art. XI, § 7 [a "county or city may make *and enforce*" laws "not in conflict with general laws"], emphasis added.) That provision of the Constitution provides localities with inherent police power. (*Riverside*, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 738.) "The requirement that a license first be obtained before conducting a business or activity has long been recognized as a valid exercise of [local] police power." (Cohen, supra, 40 Cal.3d at p. 296.) This includes the imposition of penalties that include the possibility of jail. (Id. at pp. 285, 299) [affirming licensing ordinance that "may result in criminal penalties of up to six months in jail"].) LAMC section 104.15 is thus a proper licensing regulation, which imposes criminal penalties for violating its terms. It is the type of licensing regulation specifically contemplated by MAUCRSA.

Defendant's sole other contradiction argument relies exclusively on Justice Liu's concurrence in *Riverside, supra,* 56 Cal.4th at pp. 763–765. (PBM, p. 35.) In that concurrence, Justice Liu applied principles of federal obstacle preemption to opine that conflict preemption can also occur when local regulation stands as

an obstacle to what the state has affirmatively "authorize[d] or intend[ed] to promote." (Riverside, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 765 (conc. opn. of Liu, J.); see also *T-Mobile West LLC v. City and* County of San Francisco (2019) 6 Cal.5th 1107, 1123 (T-Mobile) [explaining that "[t] his court has never said explicitly whether state preemption principles are coextensive with the developed federal conception of obstacle preemption"].) Even under that test and Justice Liu's concurring opinion, however, the state statute and local ordinance here are not in conflict. Justice Liu agreed with the majority in *Riverside* that the MMPA, at issue in that case, was a "limited exemption from state criminal liability" and that "state law does not 'authorize' activities, to the exclusion of local bans, simply by exempting those activities from otherwise applicable state prohibitions." (*Riverside, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 764, internal quotations omitted, conc. opn. of Liu, J.) Current law under MAUCRSA maintains this status quo: state licensing remains an exception to state criminal liability. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 26032, subds. (a) ["The actions of a licensee . . . are not unlawful under state law and shall not be an offense subject to arrest, prosecution, or other sanction under *state law*..." emphasis added], (b) [exception to state law violations for property owners].)

Citing the *Riverside* concurrence, defendant characterizes Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 as "authoriz[ing] a property owner to unknowingly permit its lessee to operate a business illegally selling a controlled substance, marijuana." (PBM, p. 35.) This argument conflates not specifically punishing conduct with authorizing that same conduct. (*Bronco Wine Co. v.*

Jolly (2004) 33 Cal.4th 943, 992 ["[t]here is a difference between (1) not making an activity unlawful, and (2) making that activity lawful"].) Section 11366.5 does not make any conduct lawful. It simply does not criminalize or punish landlords who do not know their property is being used for drug crime.

In any event, defendant's argument misapplies the *Riverside* concurrence. The concurring opinion explained that it was concerned with local regulation that imposed an obstacle to state law. Contradiction preemption can occur where local law "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of' state law. (Riverside, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 764, conc. opn. of Liu, J.) It is not the purpose or objective of Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 to have property owners knowingly or unknowingly—rent property to unlicensed or illegal cannabis businesses. Nor does section 11366.5—or UCSA generally—seek to encourage the unlicensed sale of commercial cannabis. (See County of San Bernardino v. Mancini (Sept. 13, 2022, E075246) ____ Cal.App.5th ____ [2022 Cal.App.LEXIS 839, *13] (Mancini), emphasis in original, quoting City of Vallejo v. NCORP4, Inc. (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 1078, 1081 ["While permitting the use of marijuana, California law 'does not thereby *mandate*, that local governments authorize, allow, or accommodate the existence of marijuana dispensaries"].)

The local ordinance neither duplicates nor contradicts state law.

C. LAMC section 12.21 "as applied" to defendant is not preempted by state laws.

LAMC section 12.21, subdivision (A)(1)(a), is a land use ordinance providing that structures in Los Angeles may only be used in permitted zones after all necessary licenses and permits have been obtained. That section provides: "No building or structure shall be erected, reconstructed, structurally altered, enlarged, moved, or maintained, nor shall any building, structure or land be used or designed to be used for any use other than is permitted in the zone in which such building, structure or land is located and then only after applying for and securing all permits and licenses required by all laws and ordinances." (LAMC, § 12.21, subd. (A)(1)(a)).)

Defendant does not appear to argue that section 12.21 duplicates the state statutes or that field preemption applies. (See PBM, pp. 41-45.) Defendant also does not, and cannot, argue that the state statutes facially preempt this general zoning ordinance. She concedes, "the wording of LAMC section 12.21, subdivision (a)(1)(A) does not match Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 or Penal Code section[] 373a." (PBM, p. 44.) There is thus no basis for a facial preemption challenge. (*T-Mobile, supra,* 6 Cal.5th at p. 1117 [in "a facial [preemption] challenge to a local ordinance, the court considers the text of the measure itself, not its application to any particular circumstances or individual"].)

Defendant instead argues—while citing no authority—that section 12.21 as applied to her conduct is preempted by the state statutes. (PBM, p. 44 [defendant "is unaware of a case that has

decided whether preemption applies to a broadly worded local law being used to regulate conduct that a specific state statute covers"].)⁷ But as applied challenges are based on specific facts presented to the trial court. In the context of constitutional challenges, for example, courts have repeatedly held that while facial challenges may be raised on appeal for the first time, as applied challenges may not. (*People v. Gonzalez* (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 960, 975 [an "as-applied constitutional challenge is forfeited unless previously raised"]; *Cahill Construction Co., Inc. v. Superior Court* (2021) 66 Cal.App.5th 777, 789-790 [an as applied challenge "contemplates analysis of the facts of a particular case ... to determine the circumstances in which the statute ... has been applied"], citation omitted.)

⁷ "As applied" preemption is typically employed to consider whether federal law preempts state law. (See e.g., People ex rel. Harris v. Pac Anchor Transportation, Inc., (2014) 59 Cal.4th 772, 784-787 [the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994 did not preempt California labor and insurance laws as applied]: Friends of the Eel River v. North Coast Railroad Authority (2017) 3 Cal.5th 677, 717-720 [considering as applied preemption under the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act of 1995].) Federal preemption law is established by the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution. (Viva! Internat. Voice for Animals v. Adidas Promotional Retail Operations, Inc. (2007) 41 Cal.4th 929, 935.) The People have identified one Court of Appeal opinion considering whether a local ordinance, "as applied," was preempted by a state statute. (L.A. Lincoln Place Investors v. City of L.A. (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 53.) There the plaintiff presented a factual basis to support the as applied challenge. (Id. at pp. 57-61.) No such relevant facts were presented in the trial court here.

Defendant did not raise a preemption challenge in the trial court—let alone an as applied preemption challenge. (See Return to Petition for Writ of Mandate, p. 57 [defendant "certainly waived this particular argument because it is based on facts not raised in the trial court"]; PWM, Exhibit A, pp. 55-66 [defendant's motion to dismiss raised constitutional vagueness and Penal Code section 1385 claims].) The record here is particularly sparse to support an as applied challenge, as defendant's motion to dismiss was filed at the pretrial hearing immediately following her arraignment. (See PWM, Exhibit A, pp. 53-55.) More importantly, defendant's argument fails on the merits.

1. LAMC section 12.21 does not contradict Health and Safety Code section 11366.5.

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